
 MBCSD Agenda 4-26-2023 

MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
19 Seacape Drive  Muir Beach, CA 94965  415 383 9969  www.muirbeachcsd.com 

AGENDA 

     Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Wednesday, April 26, 2023   7:00 PM 

 Muir Beach Community Center 

19 Seacape Drive 

Muir Beach, CA 94965 

TIMING OF AGENDA ITEMS:   The Board attempts to hear all items in order as stated on the agenda, however it 

reserves the right to take items out of the order listed at any time during the course of the meeting.  The following 

items will be considered, and any item can be discussed, acted upon, or approved during the course of the meeting. 

SPECIAL NEEDS:   In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to 

participate in this meeting, please contact the District Manager at 415-388-7804.  Notification 48 hours prior to the 

meeting will enable the District to make reasonable arrangements to ensure participation in the meeting. 

7:00 pm Item 1: Call to Order 

Board: Paul Jeschke (Board President), Leighton Hills (Board Vice-President), Christine Murray 

(Director), Steven Shaffer (Director), David Taylor (Director) 

Staff: Mary Halley (District Manager), Chris Gove (Fire Chief), Ernst Karel (Meeting Secretary) 

Item 2: Approval of Agenda 

The following item or items were not included in this agenda, along with the reason for not being 

included.  Pursuant to the Bylaws of the Muir Beach Community Services District, the Board of Directors 

may now by motion require that the item or items be added back to this meeting’s agenda.  Should the 

item or items require research or preparation by staff or by member(s) of the Board of Directors in order 

to be properly heard, the item or items may be deferred to a subsequent meeting.  The motion to approve 

this agenda may be without change or may be to re-include any item or items listed below. 

Item(s) not included in this agenda: None 

Item 3: Consent Calendar 

All items on the Consent Calendar are considered to be either routine or non-controversial and will be 

enacted by a single blanket action of the Board.  Upon request from a Board member or any member of 

the public, individual items may be removed from the Consent Calendar in which case they will be 

discussed in the meeting (under Items Removed from the Consent Calendar). 

A. Approval of Draft Minutes from Regular Board Meeting of 1/25/23.

B. Approval of Quarterly Financial Reports dated 3/31/23. (See attached or view at

http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/2023-3-Financial-Reports.pdf 

Item 4: Items Removed from Consent Calendar 

Items moved from the Consent Calendar to the Regular Agenda, if any. 

Board Packet Page 1



                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 4-26-2023 

 Item 5: Green Gulch Creek Restoration Project – Sara Tasker  

 
Representatives from Green Gulch would like to share with the Muir Beach Community and CSD their 

current work on the Green Gulch Creek and Watershed Restoration project that will also help to 

reconfigure water storage at the farm. They are hoping to get a letter of support from the CSD Board for 

their Petition of Change to the California State Water Board for modifications in their water rights that 

will 1) NOT affect MB water in any way, and 2) will result in higher creek flow in Green Gulch Creek 

during the spring and summer months that are critical for juvenile salmon and other wildlife.   

 

 Item 6: Fire Department Report   

 
Fire Chief Chris Gove will give his report. 

 

 Item 7: District Manager Report                          

  
District Manager Mary Halley will present brief highlights from her DM report. 

 

 Item 8: District Cybersecurity – Christine Murray      

 
Due to the increased risks of phishing attacks, Directors Murray, Taylor, and Hills would like to discuss 

the policies and practices in place at MBCSD regarding various levels of data safety. Their initial 

recommendation is for the Board to create a small ad hoc subcommittee to lead the process and to report 

back in July 2023 with any progress.  For further reading on the matter, please reference Marin County's 

Top 10 Cybersecurity Recommendations for Organizations. 

 

 Item 9: Public Open Time  

 
Please note: 

1. Topics should be within the jurisdiction of the CSD (Water, Roads, Fire Protection, & Recreation). 

2.  The topic should not be elsewhere on the agenda. 

3. The Board and staff may only briefly respond to statements and questions (i.e. the legal requirement for 

items not posted on an agenda which otherwise informs community members that a topic is up for 

discussion and/or action.) 

4.  Public comments are limited to 3 minutes per speaker, unless waived by the Board. 

5. The period for public open time is limited to 10 minutes, unless waived by the Board. 

 

 Item 10: Recognitions & Board Member Items                            

 
Board recognitions and pending events of interest to the community. 

 

 Item 11: Adjournment                           

 
Next Agenda Meeting Date:  Wednesday, May 17, 2023 

Next Board Meeting Date: Wednesday, May 24, 2023 (Sup. Rodoni – Spring Office Hours -5pm) 

Board Packet Page 2

https://www.marincounty.org/depts/is/divisions/info-security-compliance/top-10-cybersecurity-recommendations


1 

MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 1 
Minutes of the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 2 

Wednesday, January 25, 2023 3 
 4 

OFFICIAL MINUTES ONLY UPON APPROVAL 5 
 6 
Prior to approval of these minutes by the Board of Directors in a public meeting, these minutes are 7 
draft only and subject to change. Upon approval by the Board, these minutes become the Official 8 
Minutes of the meeting.  9 
 10 
Item 1: Call to Order  11 
David Taylor called the meeting of the Muir Beach Community Services District Board of Directors to 12 
order at approximately 7:00 pm.   13 
 14 
Board: David Taylor (Board President), Paul Jeschke (Board Vice-President),  15 

Christine Murray (Director), Leighton Hills (Director), Steve Shaffer (Director) 16 
Staff: Mary Halley (District Manager), Chris Gove (Fire Chief), Ernst Karel  17 

(Meeting Secretary)  18 
 19 
The three newly elected candidates, Leighton Hills, Steve Shaffer, and Christine Murray, are formally 20 
sworn in by District Manager Halley. 21 
  22 
Item 2: Approval of Agenda  23 
Item(s) not included in this agenda:  24 

A. Requested item that the Board “discuss sending a letter to our Supervisor asking that Pacific 25 
Way be paved from Highway 1 to just past the bridge” was not included in the agenda as Pacific 26 
Way and Pacific Way Bridge were discussed with Supervisor Rodoni at the September 28 27 
Board meeting during the Supervisor’s MB Office Hours. The District Manager has sent an email 28 
to Supervisor Rodoni’s aide Rhonda Kutter passing along the paving request. 29 

B. Requested item to discuss “with the rainy season approaching the issue of who is responsible 30 
for keeping the drains on our roads and the county roads” was not included in the agenda as the 31 
responsibility of road maintenance is set. The CSD has been keeping clear the street drains on 32 
the portion of upper Pacific Way that is not County, the drainage grates and street drainage 33 
ditch on Sunset Way and on Starbuck extension, and now since adopting this year, the street 34 
drainage ditch and grates on Charlotte’s Way. The County of Marin maintains, and sweeps 35 
monthly, the streets and drainage grates on Ahab Drive, Seacape Drive, Starbuck Drive, and 36 
the County’s portion of Pacific Way along with the Overlook, and also did come out last year 37 
during the storm to unplug a clogged drain at the Starbuck cul-de-sac. 38 

C. Requested item asking “for a railing on the steps going down to little beach” will need the 39 
property owner’s permission before the CSD can take it under consideration. 40 

MOTION: To approve the agenda as submitted. 41 
Moved:  Hills, seconded by Shaffer 42 
Vote:  AYES: Unanimous 43 

 44 
Item 3: Election of Board Officers  45 
Board will elect a Board President and Vice President.  46 
Article 2.3 of the CSD Bylaws (available on the CSD website) provides: “The Board President and 47 
Board Vice President shall be elected at the first meeting of the calendar year or at another 48 
subsequent meeting as determined by the Board of Directors. The term of office shall commence 49 
upon election and shall continue for one year and until his/her successor is elected and takes office.” 50 
The Election of Officers will proceed accordingly:  51 

Board Packet Page 3



2 

(1) Nominations – Candidate(s) for Board President should be nominated by any one or 1 
more Directors. 2 

(2) Motion to Close Nominations – A motion should then be made to close the nominations, 3 
seconded and voted upon. 4 

(3) Vote – The Board President should then call a vote for or against each nominated 5 
candidate, and declare the outcome of the election. 6 

The process should be repeated for the Board Vice President. 7 
The elected Board President should chair the remainder of the meeting.  8 

MOTION: To elect Paul Jeschke as board president, Leighton Hills as vice president.  9 
Moved:  Murray, seconded by Taylor 10 
Vote:  AYES: Unanimous.11 

 12 
  13 

 14 
Item 4: Consent Calendar  15 
Approval of Draft-Minutes from Regular Board Meeting of 11/16/22.  16 

A. Approval of Quarterly Financial Reports dated 12/31/22. (See attached or view at 17 
http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/2022-12-Financial-Reports.pdf)  18 

B. Approval of Draft-Audits FY 2022 (See http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-19 
content/uploads/2022/12/MBCSD-Draft-Audit-Report-6.30.22.pdf)  20 

C. Approve Resolution 2023-1 to make the findings that the proclaimed State of Emergency 21 
continues to impact the ability to meet safely in person and declaring that the Board of 22 
Directors will continue to meet remotely in order to ensure the health and safety of the public 23 
for the next 30-day period extending from January 25, 2023 to February 24, 2023. (Please see 24 
attached MBCSD Resolution 2023-1: AB 361 30-Day Extension 1-25-23 To 2-24-2023)  25 
 26 
MOTION:  To approve the consent calendar. 27 
Moved:  Shaffer, seconded by Taylor 28 
Vote:  AYES: Unanimous.29 

 30 
  31 

 32 
Unanimous 33 
 34 

Item 5: Items Removed from Consent Calendar 35 
None. 36 
 37 
Item 6: Fire Department Report  38 
 39 
ACTIVITY. This last year we responded to a record number of calls.  We responded 78 times, an 40 
increase of over ten percent from recent experience.  55% of these calls were in the community and 41 
adjacent NPS spaces such as the Overlook and Big Beach.   25% of our responses were on roads 42 
and highways which of course are integral to the community as well.    43 
Training continues to recover slowly from the pandemic period and we have had 25 drills this year 44 
which is below the ~30 we target for ourselves. 45 
The community overall escaped serious damage in the recent series of storms.  The fire department 46 
removed a half dozen trees and responded to protect drivers from downed wires and landslides.   47 
Please be aware that when power lines are down and PG&E has not surveyed the damage it is not 48 
safe to pass near any downed lines.  Please cooperate with fire and law enforcement personnel.  49 
  50 

Board Packet Page 4



3 

FIREWISE. The committee completed another survey of the community and applied for and received 1 
a renewed certificate. Every two years we must show improvement to a set of guidelines to maintain 2 
membership and we are showing continued improvement. The community has really done some great 3 
work on their yards, and we salute their involvement. 4 
 5 
FIREHOUSE. MERA has postponed their construction schedule yet again -- this time for weather. I 6 
have applied for an extension for our coastal permit and will report soon on the status. 7 
 8 
DISASTER COUNCIL. They continue to drill and meet, and most will take a CERT course later this 9 
month. CERT stands for Community Emergency Response Team and is a specialized training on how 10 
to assist first responders in an emergency. The department appreciates their efforts. 11 
 12 
MWPA. We just completed the first round of fuel reduction on the north side of HWY 1. Twelve acres 13 
were cleared in total. This was a 100’ buffer alongside the highway that was done under the joint 14 
supervision of MWPA and NPS by teams from Forrester & Kroeger and others. Working with Mike St 15 
John from MWPA we were able to complete the project with minimal disruption to the community.  16 
They reported that the area had the densest growth that they had ever seen in Marin and we do not 17 
yet know how many tons were chipped.  All the biomass was chipped and distributed on site.  The 18 
way in which this was done was to preserve islands of habitat and remove invasive species and 19 
ladder fuels.  20 
We are in process for applying for additional funds to continue the project. Working with multiple 21 
agencies it came together well and we thank GGNRA and CALTRANS for their assistance. 22 
 23 
SCBA. We have settled on our order and are awaiting final pricing and delivery dates for the new 24 
items. It will be considerably less expensive than first thought -- in the $5-7K range. 25 
 26 
CALTRANS. A slide has been developing on HWY 1 south of the 1853 Shoreline Hwy and 27 
CALTRANS engineers have decided that an emergency repair is necessary. The plan is to install a 28 
series of piers in early February.   29 
 30 
660.We’ve had an ongoing mechanical issue with our smaller engine and have finally identified the 31 
issue and it is in the shop for repairs at this time. 32 
 33 
Thank you for allowing us to be of service,  34 
Chris Gove, Chief MBVFD35 
  36 
David Taylor describes the recent project of clearing growth from the North side of Highway 1and 37 
shows photos of the work being done.   38 
  39 
Item 7: Muir Beach Christmas Fair Report – Laurie Piel  40 
Christmas Fair organizer Laurie Piel will give a quick report and possibly present check.  41 
 42 
Piel will be delivering a check to Mary Halley for $1000. It's lower than it could have been because of 43 
expenses in setup, and extra storm-preparedness done by Cuco. 44 
 45 
Fair is now partnering with the California College of Art (CCA) to allow artists from there to participate.46 
  47 
Item 8: District Manager Report  48 
District Manager Mary Halley presents brief highlights from her DM report, a written document which 49 
(as always) is included with the monthly meeting packet available online at 50 
http://www.muirbeachcsd.com/meetings.  51 

Board Packet Page 5

http://www.muirbeachcsd.com/meetings


4 

 1 
Due to the ending of the state-wide state of emergency around COVID, this will be the last Zoom 2 
meeting. 3 
 4 
Redwood Creek is full of water. Drought level has been downgraded to "Moderate". 5 
 6 
Charlotte's Way, because this is the first year we've adopted the road, we've been micromanaging it 7 
and had no issues, but it's clear that it will need constant watching -- the mud is moving in a few 8 
places. 9 
 10 
New computer in the office, with sufficient data backup.  11 
 12 
Three fraudulent checks submitted on our account. We were contacted and they were clearly 13 
fraudulent. We need to either start a new process for checks, Positive Pay, or open a new account. 14 
Positive Pay is about $600/year. Director Halley will proceed with that because it is very complicated 15 
process to open a new governmental account and re-establish all autopay systems. 16 
 17 
Item 9: Public Open Time  18 
Steve Shaffer says that the mailboxes are starting to lean again and need to be bolstered up again. 19 
Conversation proceeds about whether the CSD would pay for that; Steve will try to do it 20 
independently. 21 
 22 
Item 11: Recognitions & Board Member Items 23 
Halley recognizes David Taylor for excellent management of the whole Highway 1 evacuation corridor 24 
ladder fuel vegetation clearing grant project. 25 
 26 
David Taylor recognizes Bob Jacobs. There will be a funeral next month. The TV project he 27 
shepherded is in progress.  28 
 29 
Item 12: Adjournment 30 
Next Agenda Meeting Date: Wednesday, March 15, 2023 31 
Next Board Meeting Date: Wednesday, March 22, 2023.  32 
 33 
There being no further business to come before the board, the meeting is adjourned. 34 
Meeting adjourned at 19:50. 35 

Board Packet Page 6



Board Packet Page 7



Board Packet Page 8



Board Packet Page 9



Board Packet Page 10



Board Packet Page 11



Board Packet Page 12



Board Packet Page 13



Board Packet Page 14



Board Packet Page 15



Board Packet Page 16



Board Packet Page 17



Board Packet Page 18



Board Packet Page 19



FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT
CHRIS GOVE
APRIL 26, 2023

ACTIVITY
We have run 28 calls so far this year, 60% in the community/beach area. The most significant
was a small vegetation fire along Redwood Creek trail sparked by downed power lines on an
extremely windy day in February.

FIREWISE
The Firewise team has applied to PG&E for a small vegetation management grant to clear brush
below power lines along Sunset Way. A screening has been arranged for the documentary
Elemental on May 5that the community center and there will be a Q&A session to follow.

FIREHOUSE
MERA tower construction started this past month. This will allow us to start grading the site for
the firehouse. The coastal permit was due to expire in June; we applied for and received a two
year extension. After the BBQ we will be getting bids for a prefab building. We have applied
along with Marin county for a $580,000 grant for the construction.

MWPA
Muir Beach continues to participate in MWPA programs and we are presently completing
proposals for the coming fiscal year. We are proposing to fund some additional work and
maintenance on the Banducci site. In addition we are proposing to perform fuel reduction on
the southbound side of Hwy 1 opposite the NPS lands we worked on last year. This project will
require various environmental approvals and a coastal permit. Due to the time and complexity
and expense of those permits we are partnering with other West Marin agencies with similar
projects.

SCBA
SCBA’s have been ordered and are expected soon. The cost was just over $7,000 in addition to
grant funds. We still need to purchase A RIT bag which will be an additional ~$5,500. The new
Scott SCBA systems being adopted by the West Marin agencies are identical to the ones used by
our partners at Marin County Fire.

PARKING
Marin County has enacted new parking restrictions on Hwy 1 and Pacific Way. Changes are
minor and signs will be going up soon.

DISASTER COUNCIL
Most of the disaster liaisons are undergoing CERT training. Hoping to hold a fire extinguisher
service day soon.

BBQ is May 28th. Please sign up to volunteer.

Board Packet Page 20



Water, Fire, Recreation, Roads, Finance, and Communications – April 2023 

General: 

Board Elections – Director Paul Jeschke was elected in January as Board President for the 2023 term.   

Remote meetings – the Declaration of a State of Emergency expired in California on February 28 along with Assembly Bill 

AB 361.  Remote meetings are still possible when needed under the original Brown Act with special noticing provisions 

and posting requirements.  I have submitted a support letter for AB 557 which, if passed, would allow for a continuation 

of remote Brown Act meetings during a state of emergency if it is unsafe for a local agency board to meet in-person. 

Water: 

Redwood Creek Stream Monitoring – since the beginning of 2023 we have had anywhere from 13 – 30 “Atmospheric 

River” events (depending on news reports) with only two incidences of January flooding at our pump house.  Redwood 

Creek water levels ranged from 4 – 6.5ft. with gage heights averaging over 1 ft. and are currently at .94 ft.  Stream flows 

were as high as 500 cu.ft. per second of discharge and now averaging around 13 cu.ft. The California Central Coast has 

now been declared as having “none” drought conditions. 

Water Reports – am now submitting monthly Drought and Conservation reports – required at a minimum quarterly (Jan, 

Apr, July and Oct) – on the SWRCB SAFER Clearinghouse website.  The EAR Annual Water Report is completed, but am 

just waiting for one backflow assembly test report before submitting.  Due date is May 13, 2023. 

CalWARN – our district did not sustain any major storm damage and has neither requested nor provided any mutual aid. 

Leak Detection – the district has begun to test our water mains for leaks.  Our water team has finished testing the 

transmission line from the wells to the Lower Tank and did not detect any significant leaks.  We have been monitoring 

the Upper and Lower tank levels and have detected no pattern of leakage in the Upper Tank, but possibly in the Lower 

Tank, so we will turn our focus to the lower zone for further testing of mains. The new Sunset main is not a likely source. 

Fire: 

Firehouse – now that grading for MERA tower has started, the grading for the new fire house can begin. 

Fire Barn – continuing to coordinate the renewal of the Fire Barn 2-year lease.  Vegetation has been cleared around the 

building and photographs submitted as required by our insurance company, so am just waiting for copy of VFIS 

insurance policy renewal to complete NPS Fire Barn lease. 

Measure C and MWPA  – have jointly submitted this year’s Measure C spending plan with the MBVFD Fire Chief and 

Director David Taylor.  The MBVFD is requesting MWPA grant funds for the second phase of the Highway 1 Evacuation 

Corridor/Banducci project and the CSD will be looking at using Measure C funds for removal of a few dead and dying 

trees near district-maintained roads and on park lands. 

Recreation: 

MB Community Center – we are still waiting for the order of new deck roof glass to replace several broken panes and 

repair the cracking seals on many of the other older panes.  Several of the lights along the CC walkway were blown over 

and damaged in the storm but have since been repaired.  The MBCC piano just had its spring tuning in April.  The 

entertainment system donated by Bob Jacob is compete and several monthly community movie nights are planned. 

MB Community Center Rentals – Joani has been busy scheduling various resident rentals and community events. 

Prop 68 Per Capita Recreation grant – the County building permit process continues with all documents having been 

transmitted to the County mid-September 2022.  Our parking plans have now been going through the County building 

permit process for over a year now in April and have finished being reviewed and approved by all departments except 

are still in Cycle 3 Review by DPW.  Each department has 30 days to review, and it has been in DPW over 30 days now, so Board Packet Page 21



hoping to get over the finish line soon.  I have continued to work with one of the original three contractors to try to 

develop a bid that is close enough to the available grant funding to complete the core construction project.  Hoping to 

have a new estimate to be able to report on at the 4/26 meeting.  If the proposal is acceptable, we are looking for a late 

June into July construction period.  I will need to secure a county encroachment permit and a Recreation Deed 

Restriction and then get the required Prop 68 grant signs printed and posted.  I have also received confirmation from the 

County Parks Department that Measure A funds can be used towards matching funds for Prop 68 projects if needed.  

The Prop 68 Grant program deadline was extended for another year, so we still have time to work through current 

planning, funding, and construction issues. 

Measure A – am currently working on the Measure A workplan due July 1. 

Parks and Trails – park trails and pathways have been monitored and cleared as needed during the heavy winter storms. 

Roads: 

Charlotte’s Way – roadway took continuous monitoring and constant cleaning of drains, ditches, and road surfaces in-

between each of these past winter storms due to the shedding trees and steep debris laden slopes.  Fire Chief Chris 

Gove noted that there are many dead trees and smaller upstarts that are growing into the narrow roadway easement 

creating unsafe passage for emergency vehicle access, as well as, making the escape route corridor even more 

dangerous.  The district will look into removing some of the dead or encroaching trees for removal in the fall after bird 

nesting season has passed.  We will coordinate with the various property owners whose property borders the CW 

roadway easement.  Measure C Local and some D-Space funding can be used for this safety project. 

Communications:  

Website – as always, continuing to update pages and post routine documents on the website. 

Muir Beach Directory – now current thru 4/10/23 and always posted on the district website ‘Contact and Links’ page. 

Finance: 

Audits – FY21/22 annual audits are approved at the January 2023 Board meeting.   The auditor has also completed and 

submitted the SCO (State Controller’s Office) report. 

Budget – district finances are currently on budget.  General operations cashflow remains very low with most cash held in 

the Fire Department Reserves and two Water Capital Improvement Funds.  April property tax inflows will help restore 

some operational cash in the General fund. We also have begun billing MERA for the tower lease starting in April 2023. 

Capital Planning – currently the only capital projects in planning are those using grant funding: Measure A, Recreation 

Prop 68, and the Firehouse. 

Insurance – Worker’s comp annual renewal questionnaire submitted.  CSD Property and Liability insurance renewal 

completed for renewal year April 23-24. VFIS renewal is still in-progress. 

District Office Business – district is now signed up for ‘positive pay’ where the bank verifies every check submitted for 

payment on our account against a list we submit to the bank every time checks are issued.  After much negotiation, the 

bank has agreed to waive the $50 p/month plus $0.05 p/check fees.  Also, we will not include the bank reconciliations in 

the board packets out of an abundance of caution.  As always, I am continuing to process all District mail and work with 

Sharry to make sure payroll timesheets, routine/event reimbursements, Credit Card expenditures, incoming payments 

and outgoing checks are all processed and expedited between agencies, employees, and vendors promptly. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Mary Halley 

MBCSD District Manager Board Packet Page 22


	MBCSD April 26 2023 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Minutes_Draft_2022-01-25-2023 (002)
	2023-3 Financial Reports
	Fire_APRIL 2023 FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT
	DM Report for 4-26-23 Mary



